Received 12/11/2023 11:40 PM

Resubmitted 12/12/2023 11:16 AM

Resubmitted 12/12/2023 11:30 AM

## IN THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal No. 23-CV-298 Appeal No. 23-CV-299

#### GERARDINE LUMBIH

Appellant

vs.

CAROLYN WILSON, et al,

Appellee

APPELLANT'S BRIEF

Appeal from the District of Columbia Superior Court Case Nos. 2016 CA 005209 and 2018 CA 006980 (Judge Yvonne Williams)

Tyler Jay King Franklin Square Law Group 700 12<sup>th</sup> St., NW, Ste. 700 Washington, DC 20005 Phone: (202) 436-2641 Fax: (202) 478-0964 tyler@lawgroupfs.com

Counsel for Appellant

#

#### II. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Did the trial court abuse its discretion by not invoking its equitable powers to shift liability from Ms. Lumbih to Ms. Wilson?
- 2. Did the trial court err and/or abuse its discretion by finding that Ms. Lumbih did not establish that Ms. Wilson breached the deed of conveyance by failing to convey all of the real property described in the deed?

#### III. STANDARD OF REVIEW

In *Teva Pharms. USA, Inc. v. Sandoz, Inc.*, 574 U.S. 318 (2015), the Supreme Court of the United States elaborated on the interplay of de novo and clear error review in the context of how facts play into the ultimate legal conclusion, providing that:

" [A]n issue does not lose its factual character merely because its resolution is dispositive of the ultimate" legal question. *Miller* v. *Fenton*, 474 U.S. 104, 113, 106 S. Ct. 445, 88 L. Ed. 2d 405 (1985). It is analogous to a judge (sitting without a jury) deciding whether a defendant gave a confession voluntarily. The answer to the legal

question about the voluntariness of the confession may turn upon the answer to a subsidiary factual question, say, "whether in fact the police engaged in the intimidation tactics alleged by the defendant." *Id.*, at 112, 106 S. Ct. 445, 88 L. Ed. 2d 405. An appellate court will review the trial judge's factual determination about the alleged intimidation deferentially (though, after reviewing the factual findings, it will review a judge's ultimate determination of voluntariness *de novo*). *Teva Pharms. USA, Inc. v. Sandoz, Inc.*, 574 U.S. 318, 333

#### IV. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Trial Court abused its discretion by not applying equitable principles to find that Ms. Wilson should indemnify Ms. Lumbih for Ntaky's claims against Ms. Lumbih. In addition, the Trial abused its discretion and committed clear error in finding that Ms. Wilson did not breach her deed of conveyance to Ms. Lumbih.

#### V. STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

In November 2008, Carolyn Wilson ("Wilson") became the owner of real property located in the District of Columbia which was designated as Lot 824 in Square 3024. In 2009, Ms. Wilson subdivided Lot 824 into Lots 825, 826 and 827 in preparation for her planned sale of property. Lot 826 is located at 4203 9th Street NW, Washington, DC 20011. Lot 825 is located at 4201 9th Street NW, Washington, DC 20011. Records maintained by the Office of the Surveyor for the District of Columbia (the "Survey Records") indicate that Lot 825 was defined and designated to be 30 feet wide running from north to south and that it sits directly south of Lot 826. JA-1.

On or about August 28, 2009, Ms. Wilson sold Lot 826 in fee simple to Ntaky Management, LLC ("Ntaky"). The relevant deed identified the property sold as Lot 826 and specified that the property had dimensions of 20 feet by 40 feet. Ntaky purchased Lot 826 as an investment property with varying potential uses such as for a business, as a rental property, a future development project, and/or an appreciable asset. The southern lot line of Lot 826 extends beyond the northern face of the building that is 4201 9<sup>th</sup> Street NW, Washington, DC, which puts the boundary line a few feet within Ms. Lumbih's home. JA-2.

On or about September 24, 2010, Ms. Wilson sold Lot 825 in fee simple to Gerardine Lumbih ("Lumbih"). *Id*. The conveyance deed describes the real property by metes and bounds as running 38 feet north to south, and running 40 feet running east to west. However, Lot 825 runs only 30 feet north to south. JA-45-46.

After trial, the Trial Court determined and declared, "that Ntaky (i) is the sole legal and equitable owner of the entirety of Lot 826 in Square 3024 in the District of Columbia and (ii) is entitled to cause the removal of the encroachments on Lot 826 that it identified in its Verified Complaint, specifically the deck, stairway, and HVAC unit, at the cost, risk, and expense of Ms. Lumbih. ... Because the Court has determined that Ntaky's quiet title claim has merit, it need not address Ntaky's damages claim against Ms. Wilson." JA-11.

#### VI. ARGUMENT

# A. The Trial Court abused its discretion by not invoking its equitable powers to shift liability from Ms. Lumbih to Ms. Wilson, by reasoning that Ms. Lumbih had not provided a basis upon which to apply the doctrine of implied indemnity.

The Trial Court should have exercised its equitable powers to fashion a just result between the parties because the Court found the boundary line to be out of place in the sense that it would have befitted all involved the boundary line were aligned with the "facts on the ground". In other words, if the property line was "in the right place" it would have run between the two pertinent addresses in a place that obviated the trespass, thereby eliminating Ms. Lumbih's liability to Ntaky, and allowing Ntaky to proceed with any potential sale, free and clear of the cloud on title. Having found that Ntaky had superior title and that the boundary line thus established was unworkable between Ntaky and Ms. Lumbih, the Trial Court should have invoked its equitable powers to find Ms. Wilson liable to the parties on account of any damages associated with the boundary line. However, the Trial Court declined to exercise its equitable powers, stating that, "Ms. Lumbih does not provide any basis for the Court to determine the doctrine of implied indemnity's applicability to this case." JA-12.

Ms. Lumbih contends that she did provide a basis for the Trial Court to determine the doctrine of implied indemnity's applicability to the case. Indeed, the argument was simply, at its core, that Ntaky had sued Ms. Lumbih for something that Ms. Wilson had done, and not for something that Ms. Lumbih had done. JA-27-28. Ms. Lumbih described the situation as one in which it was, "uncontroverted, and the parties do not dispute, that Ms. Wilson conveyed a lot of land to Ntaky that was too wide, because it extended over the actual building line of the physical edifice on the abutting lot; and Ms. Wilson conveyed a lot of land to Ms. Lumbih that was too wide, because it included land that [had] already been conveyed to Ntaky, and it included land that was not even part of the dimensions of the lot." JA-37.

Moreover, Ms. Lumbih argued that the application of the doctrines of indemnity and contribution would depend on how the Trial Court ruled with respect to liability among the Parties, and Ms. Lumbih noted a reservation of rights to brief that issue pending the Trial Court's ruling on liability. However, the Trial Court's ruling did not attempt to determine the claims that Ntaky brought against Ms. Wilson, by finding that, "[b]ecause the Court has determined that Ntaky's quiet title claim has merit, it need not address Ntaky's damages claim against Ms. Wilson."

Thus, the Trial Court abused its discretion by concluding that Ntaky's claims against Ms. Wilson were irrelevant once it determined the quiet title claims in Ntaky's favor. Indeed, the ruling in Ntaky's favor is the predicate for the Trial Court to determine the applicability of the doctrines of implied indemnity.

Indemnity generally involves the, "shifting of the entire loss from one who has paid it to another who would be unjustly enriched at the indemnitee's expense by the indemnitee's discharge of the obligation." *Dist. of Columbia v. Washington Hosp. Center*, 722 A.2d 332, 340 (D.C. 1998). "When based on equitable principles, indemnity may be granted to an indemnitee if there is a 'significant difference in the kind and quality' between the indemnitee's and the indemnitor's wrongdoing." *Johnson v. Mercedes-Benz, USA*, 182 F. Supp. 2d 58, 65 (D.D.C. 2002) (*quoting Quadrangle Dev. Corp. v. Otis Elevator Co.*, 748 A.2d 432, 435 (D.C. 2000)).

As Ms. Lumbih described it, when Ms. Wilson sold the first real property to Ntaky, she created liability *against herself* because she sold *herself* into the situation for which, many years later, Ntaky ended up suing Ms. Lumbih. Ms. Wilson escaped the liability she created for herself, because once Ms. Wilson sold the second real property to Ms. Lumbih, Ms. Wilson succeeding in actually receiving compensation from Ms. Lumbih while at the same time making Ms. Lumbih liable to Ntaky instead of herself.

Accordingly, the Trial Court abused its discretion by finding no basis to apply the law of indemnity, because the Trial Court should have considered whether there was a significant difference in the kind and quality of wrongdoing between Ms. Lumbih and Ms. Wilson. Indeed, the uncontroverted and undisputed evidence at trial demonstrated that there was a significant

difference, and that Ms. Wilson was herself solely responsible for the cloud on title, and that

Ntaky and Ms. Lumbih were essentially innocent bystanders.

B. The Trial Court erred and/or abused its discretion by concluding that the evidence did not establish a breach of contract by Ms. Wilson, because the Trial Court did not consider whether Ms. Wilson did in fact convey what she promised to, and instead equated the pertinent duty to efforts to properly confirm whether Ms. Wilson was conveying what she promised to convey.

The Trial Court disposed of Ms. Lumbih's breach of contract claim against Ms. Wilson

according to the following explanation.

Ms. Lumbih's breach of contract claim depends upon whether the September 24, 2010 deed imposed on Ms. Wilson an obligation or duty to confirm that the lot dimensions were correct. As a preliminary matter, the Court notes that nowhere does the September 24, 2010 deed expressly or implicitly impose such an obligation or duty on Ms. Wilson.5 (*See* Ntaky Exhibit 4). Additionally, Ms. Lumbih does not cite—and the Court is unaware of—any caselaw generally imposing such a duty on sellers of real property.

In support of a determination that no such duty was imposed on her, Ms. Wilson cites to *Fireison v. Pearson*, 520 A.2d 1046 (D.C. 1987) in which the Court of Appeals considered a fraud claim under Maryland law in circumstances like those at issue in this matter. The Court of Appeals stated in relevant part as follows:

Under Maryland law, the purchaser of property is required neither to examine the land records, nor survey the land, in order to determine the correct acreage. The purchaser clearly has a right to rely on the vendor's representations as to the boundaries and acreage of land. Even when the means of ascertaining the falsity of the vendor's representations are known and accessible, the purchaser's failure to review the land records will not bar his recovery.

If, however, the means of knowledge are at hand, *and the purchaser undertakes to make an examination of the land records*, he cannot say that he was deceived and injured by misrepresentations of the vendor. . . . Thus, the crucial question is whether [the plaintiff]—by himself or through his agent—undertook an examination of the land records.

(*Id.* at 1050 (emphasis original)). Here, Ms. Lumbih obtained a survey of Lot 825 from Vyfhuis which, although it specified that it was "not a property line survey," was nonetheless incorporated into the deed by [Ms. Evans]. Considering all the above, the Court cannot conclude that Ms. Wilson had a duty to confirm that the lot dimensions were correct. The Court shall accordingly deny Ms. Lumbih's third party claim against Ms. Wilson. JA-13-14

However, as Ms. Lumbih stated in her post-trial brief,

Wilson claims that it was Lumbih who caused the mistake by paying for the Vyfhuis survey, which allegedly involved a chain reaction causing the settlement agent, Ms. Evans, to prepare an erroneous deed for Ms. Wilson to sign. However, this survey clearly states, and it is not disputed that it is "not a property line survey". And to be doubly sure, the expert witness testimony Mr. Currie, confirmed that it is a type of "house location survey" and not reliable. (Oct. 3, Tr. 57, lines 12-17). Thus, Ms. Evans should have known not to have prepared a deed based solely upon a house location survey, which Ms. Wilson alleges. Furthermore, Ms. Wilson's connection with and steering settlement to Ms. Evans, was controverted, and Ms. Wilson's testimony about this was not credible because she suggested that Ms. Evan's was Ms. Lumbih's choice, but Mr. Nelson and Ms. Lumbih both testified that M[s]. Wilson brought them to Ms. Evans. (Oct. 3, Tr. 114, line 19). JA-38.

In a footnote Ms. Lumbih added that, "It is not clear whether Ms. Wilson is making an argument that she is not liable for the Deeds because someone else prepared them, and Ms. Lumbih reserves the right to respond to this argument if it is being made." Id.

Accordingly, it was a mix of an abuse of discretion and clear error for the Trial Court to find that Ms. Lumbih had "made an examination of the land records" by "obtaining" the Vyfhuis survey, thereby obviating the Ms. Wilson's obligation to actually convey the real property described in the conveyance deed. First, it was Ms. Wilson, not Ms. Lumbih, who "obtained" the Vyfhuis survey, because Ms. Lumbih simply paid for it, and obtained it in that limited sense. On the other hand, Ms. Wilson directed Ms. Lumbih to pay for it, and then Ms. Wilson obtained it for herself so that she could give it to the settlement agent, to which she had steered both Ms. Lumbih and Ntaky. Ms. Wilson gave the survey to the settlement agent and Ms. Wilson alleges that the settlement agent used that survey to prepare the deed. Thus, it was an abuse of discretion for the Trial Court to find that it was Ms. Lumbih and not Ms. Wilson who had obtained the Vyfhuis survey, because the Trial Court did not consider or apply the law related to principal and agent relationships, and did not consider any relevant factors, and did not base its decision on the relevant evidence. Second, the uncontroverted and undisputed evidence demonstrated that the Vyfhuis survey, as an unreliable house location survey, was, by its nature, not equivalent to an, "examination of the land records." Thus, even if it were correct to find that it was Ms. Lumbih, and not Ms. Wilson, who obtained the Vyfhuis survey, it was clear error to find that that survey amounted to an, "examination of the land records."

And third, the Trial Court abused its discretion by basing its reasoning on whether Ms. Wilson had a duty *to confirm* that the lot dimensions in the conveyance deed to Ms. Lumbih were correct. Instead, the Trial Court should have based its reasoning on the duty imposed by the conveyance deed to actually convey the real property so described. Because it was undisputed that Ms. Wilson did not actually convey the real property so described, the Trial Court should have found that Ms. Wilson breached her duty to convey the real property described in the deed.

#### VII. CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons the decision of Trial Court should be remanded so that the Trial Court can apply the pertinent equitable principals; and it should be reversed to find that Ms. Wilson breached her contractual duty to Ms. Lumbih to convey all the property described in the pertinent conveyance deed.