In the Court of Appeals For The District of Columbia



Appeal No. 23-CV-298 Appeal No. 23-CV-299 *********

GERARDINE LUMBIH,

Appellant,

VS.

CAROLYN WILSON, et. al.

Appellees

Appeal from the Superior Court for the District of Columbia Case Nos. 2016 CA 005209 and 2018 CA 006980 (Judge Yvonne Williams)

BRIEF OF APPELLEE NTAKY MANAGEMNT, LLC

Andrew J. Lavin, Esquire
Brian L. Kass, Esquire
Kass Legal Group, PLLC
4301 Connecticut Avenue, N.W.
Suite 431
Washington, D.C. 20008
(202) 659-6500
D.C. Bar#
Attorneys for Appellee Ntaky Management LLC

CERTIFICATE REQUIRED BY RULE 28 (A)(1) OF THE RULES OF THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA COURT OF APPEALS:

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

VI. ARGUMENT

Ntaky admits to being a bit confused concerning the errors alleged and the relief sought in Lumbih's Brief (hereafter, the "Brief"). Ntaky takes no position concerning any damage claims of Lumbih against Wilson, as Ntaky was not named in those claims and shares no privity of contract with Lumbih.

To the extent that the Brief seeks to: 1) change the boundary line separating Lumbih's Lot 825 in Square 3024 and Ntaky's Lot 826; 2) otherwise reduce the dimensions of Ntaky's

The trial court nevertheless must choose wisely so that its judgment reflects "a discretion exercised not arbitrarily or willfully but with regard to what is right and equitable under the circumstances and the law, and directed by the reason and conscience of the judge to a just result." Id. This is to say neither that a determination committed to the trial court's discretion is freed from the restraints of fact and 362*362 the reasoned dictates of law nor that judgment and choice play no part in a trial court's determination of law and fact in a case. The one proposition is untenable; the other is unrealistic. As in its other decision-making activity, the court's substantial freedom of choice in an exercise of discretion must be tempered by rationality.

The concept of "exercise of discretion" is a review-restraining one. The appellate court role in reviewing "the exercise of discretion" is supervisory in nature and deferential in attitude. Cf. Ethyl Corp. v. EPA, 176 U.S.App.D.C. 373, 405-09, 541 F.2d 1, 33-37, cert. denied, 426 U.S. 941, 96 S.Ct. 2663, 49 L.Ed.2d 394 (1976); Greater Boston Television Corp. v. FCC, 143 U.S. App.D.C. 383, 392-94, 444 F.2d 841, 850-52 (1970), cert. denied, 403 U.S. 925, 91 S.Ct. 2229, 29 L.Ed.2d 701, reh. denied, 404 U.S. 877, 92 S.Ct. 30, 30 L.Ed.2d 125 (1971).

An area of trial court discretion is a pasture in which the trial judge can roam and graze freely rendering rulings his appellate betters might not have made, unless and until the higher court fences off a corner of the pasture by announcing that a rule of law covers the situation and has been violated. Until that occurs, the trial judge, wielding discretionary power, need not be right by appellate court lights in order to be upheld. Even if the appellate judges disagree with his call, they will defer to him. [Rosenberg, Judicial Discretion, supra at 650.]

Consequently, when the primary focus of the trial court's role shifts from the facts and law to the sound exercise of judgment, the appellate court, in its review capacity, does not render its own decision of what judgment is most wise under the circumstances presented. Rather, it examines the record and the trial court's determination for those indicia of rationality and fairness that will assure it that the trial court's action was proper.

Matters are committed to the discretion of the trial court and reviewed only for abuse of that discretion to reap the benefits of certain perspectival and institutional advantages.

Lot 826 (and in so doing reduce Ntaky's land ownership rights and its attendant benefits); or 3) impose liability for Lumbih's claimed damages upon Ntaky; Ntaky opposes as stated in the instant brief.

A. <u>Lumbih sought only to quiet title to a portion of lot 826 in her name and</u> did not otherwise seek an award of damages against Ntaky.

The claims in the consolidated causes of action presented to the trial court below were as follows:

- 1. Ntaky's complaint against Lumbih alleging (Count One) Continuing Trespass to Real Property, (Count Two) Nuisance, (Count Three) Monetary Damages, and (Count Four) Injunctive Relief. See Supp. to Joint Appendix at p. 226.
- 2. Ntaky's Crossclaim against Wilson seeking (Count One) Claim for Damages in the form of Indemnification and (Count Two) Claim for monetary Damages in the event Ntaky is not declared to be the fee simple owner of Lot 826 in Square 3024 in its entirety. See Supp. to Joint Appendix at p. 234.
- 3. Lumbih's Counterclaim against Ntaky for (Count One) Constructive Trust, (Count Two) Action to Quiet Title, (Count Three) Adverse Possession, (Count Four) Easement, and (Count Five) Negligence. See Supp. to Joint Appendix at p. 242.
- 4. Lumbih's Third-Party Complaint against Wilson for (Count One) Indemnification/Contribution, (Count Two) Negligence, and (Count Three) Breach of Contract. See Supp. to Joint Appendix at p. 248.

All of Lumbih's Counterclaims against Ntaky were dismissed by Judge Jose Lopez's July 19, 2021 grant of partial summary judgment in favor of Ntaky except for her Count Two Action to Quiet Title. JA 000004 – 000005 & Supp. to Joint Appendix at p.254. This count for all intents and purposes was the mirror image of Ntaky's claim for Injunctive Relief in that it sought a declaration that Lumbih was the fee simple owner of a portion of Lot 826 in Square 3024, and not Ntaky. As between Lumbih and Ntaky, the sole issue presented to the trial court for resolution was the determination of the boundary line separating Lots 825 and 826 in Square 3024 and the resulting property rights of those two parties. JA 000010 – 11.

Lumbih did not seek an award of damages against Ntaky in the Court below.

B. Wilson lacked the capacity to transfer title to any portion of lot 826 to Lumbih after she had already sold the entirety of lot 826 to Ntaky. Lumbih's deed identifies the property sold to her by Wilson as lot 825 in square 3024 and that is what was transferred to Lumbih. The Trial court correctly concluded that Ntaky is the fee simple owner of the entirety of Lot 826 in Square 3024.

The Trial court determined and declared that Ntaky is the sole legal and equitable owner of the entirety of Lot 826 in Square 3024 in the District of Columbia. JA 000001 -16. This finding of fact and conclusion of law was supported by substantial and compelling evidence in the form of testimony by licensed District of Columbia Surveyor Anthony G. Currie and his boundary survey as to the location and dimensions of the boundary line separating Lots 825 and 826 in Square 3024 (See Supp. to Joint Appendix at p.23 to 39, and 274), a Boundary Survey by licensed surveyor Bruce Landes admitted as Ntaky's Exhibit 6, Ntaky's earlier recorded deed admitted as Ntaky's Exhibit 3, and the Records of the Office of the Surveyor of the District of Columbia admitted as Ntaky's Exhibits 1 and 2. The court correctly noted, and based its decision on, the legal conclusion that "to the extent the September 24, 2010 deed purported to transfer some of Lot 826 to Ms. Lumbih, it was ineffective. This is because '[w]hen [two] or more deeds of the same property are made to bona fide purchases for value without notice, the deed or deeds which are first recorded according to law shall be preferred.' D.C. Code § 42-406. As the deed to Ntaky preceded the deed to Ms. Lumbih—and the Parties do not appear to contest any issues of recordation—Ntaky's deed is preferred." JA 000008.

As of the date of Lumbih's acquisition of Lot 825 in Square 3024 as manifested by her deed admitted as Ntaky's Exhibit 4, Wilson did not own ANY PORTION of Lot 826 to legally transfer to Lumbih. Ntaky's Exhibits 3 and 4. Lumbih's deed was admitted into evidence as

Ntaky's Exhibit 4. It identifies the property sold to her by Wilson as lot 825 in square 3024 and that is what was transferred to Lumbih.

There is no basis to overturn or reverse the legal conclusion reached by the trial court that Ntaky is the fee simple owner of lot 826 in square 3024 in its entirety.

C. The trial court did not have any power to modify or alter the records of the Surveyor for the District of Columbia or the Recorder of Deeds for the District of Columbia, could not modify Ntaky's deed to lot 826 in square 3024, and there is no basis to impose liability against Ntaky in favor of Lumbih for damages associated with her claims against Wilson.

Ntaky is unclear concerning the intent and impact of Lumbih's Brief and its allegations. Specifically, it does not know precisely what to make of Lumbih's assertion at pages 3 and 4 of her Brief where it states:

The Trial Court should have exercised its equitable powers to fashion a just result between the parties because the Court found the boundary line to be out of place in the sense that it would have befitted all involved the boundary line were aligned with the "facts on the ground". In other words, if the property line was "in the right place" it would have run between the two pertinent addresses in a place that obviated the trespass, thereby eliminating Ms. Lumbih's liability to Ntaky, and allowing Ntaky to proceed with any potential sale, free and clear of the cloud on title. Having found that Ntaky had superior title and that the boundary line thus established was unworkable between Ntaky and Ms. Lumbih, the Trial Court should have invoked its equitable powers to find Ms. Wilson liable to the parties on account of any damages associated with the boundary line.

To the extent that Lumbih is including Ntaky in the reference to "the parties" and is trying to suggest that the lot line separating the two subject parcels should have been relocated by the trial court, Ntaky denies that there was any legal or just basis for a court of law to do that. It is not fair or equitable to alter the land records of the District of Columbia and those of the Office of the Surveyor of the District of Columbia to benefit Lumbih's interests to the diminishment and prejudice of Ntaky's interests.

Ntaky disputes Lumbih's assertion that declaring that the property line separating Lots 825 and 826 in Square 3024 be moved to benefit Lumbih's interest and align with the exterior wall of the encroachment onto Lot 826 would "befit" Ntaky. Such a result would have taken 20-40% of Ntaky's frontage on 9th St. NW and greatly diminish the value, potential and utility of its real property interests. See Ntaky Exhibits 6 and 7, testimony of Nelson Ramos at 10/4/22 Trial transcript, P.19 at line 19 to P. 20, line 2. Ntaky has been paying the real property taxes on the entirety of Lot 826 in Square 3024 since August of 2009, and holds legal title to it as well. See JA 000106 lines 18-21 & Supp. to Joint Appendix at p. 266 & 275 (Ntaky Exhibits 3 & 8).

Lumbih's unsupported statement at page 4 of the Brief that "Ms. Wilson conveyed a lot of land to Ntaky that was too wide" is also a false one. The Lot 826 that was sold to Ntaky in August of 2009 had been legally subdivided to a width of twenty (20) feet fronting on 9th St. NW and that is what was conveyed to Ntaky and purchased by it for valuable consideration in an arms-length transaction. See Supp. to Joint Appendix at p. 265, 266, 272, & 274 (Ntaky Exhibits 2, 3, 6 and 7).

Ntaky disputes Lumbih's characterization of its complaint against Lumbih for declaratory relief quieting title to real property held in its name. At page 4 of the Brief Lumbih suggests that "Ntaky had sued Ms. Lumbih for something that Ms. Wilson had done, and not for something that Ms. Lumbih had done." The record is clear that Ntaky sued Lumbih to remove encroachments existing on its property that benefitted Lumbih and which Lumbih had refused to remove voluntarily. Essentially, it was an *in rem* proceeding seeking declaratory and injunctive relief. See Supp. to Joint Appendix at 226. The complaint was not filed to protest something Wilson had done. If so, Wilson would have been joined as a party to that complaint.

Ntaky's crossclaim against Wilson was only advanced in terms of liability in the event the prayer for injunctive and declaratory relief was denied or dismissed. See Supp. to Joint Appendix at 234. Given the finding that Wilson conveyed the entirety of Lot 826 to Ntaky which Ntaky had bargained to receive, the claim for damages against Wilson failed. JA 000011 at footnote 3 ("Because the Court has determined that Ntaky's quiet title claim has merit, it need not address Ntaky's damages claim against Ms. Wilson"). For this reason, Ntaky is confused by Lumbih's allegation on appeal that "the Trial Court abused its discretion by concluding that Ntaky's claims against Ms. Wilson were irrelevant once it determined the quiet title claims in Ntaky's favor." Brief at page 5. If the crossclaim allegation only ripened if and to the extent that Ntaky was not found to be the fee simple owner of Lot 826 in its entirety, how is it possible to fault the trial court in finding that the claim was irrelevant since Ntaky WAS found to be the fee simple owner of Lot 826?

At trial, Lumbih had opposed Ntaky's quiet title claim by suggesting that the doctrines of laches and mutual mistake applied to negate Ntaky's claim. Laches was found not to apply given the fifteen year statute of limitations applying to claims involving title to real property. JA 000008 – 000009. Neither did the court find applicability of the doctrine of mistake given that Ntaky's "August 21, 2009 deed (Ntaky Exhibit 3) demonstrates that Ntaky intended to purchase all of Lot 826." JA 000010. The fact that there was no privity of contract between Ntaky and Lumbih is also relevant to the mistake argument. The court was not "thoroughly satisfied" by the evidence submitted by Lumbih, and that is what was required in order to find that there had been a mutual mistake requiring equitable reformation. There is no basis to hold that this finding involved an abuse of discretion by the trial court requiring reversal or remand when it was a finding supported by evidence admitted at trial. See, e.g. JA 000010.

This same finding speaks against use of the doctrine of equitable indemnification against Ntaky's interest in Lot 826 (if that is what the Brief seeks to do). Ntaky was not a party to any contract or agreement between Lumbih and Wilson and had no privity of contract with Lumbih. To apply the doctrine of equitable indemnity (also known as implied indemnity) there needs to be a relationship between the parties involved. There is no prior relationship between Ntaky and Lumbih. If there is found to be some abuse by the lower court in not applying the doctrine as Lumbih alleges, it should not affect Ntaky's declaratory judgment that it owns all of lot 826.

In *Caglioti v. District Hosp. Partners, Lp*, 933 A.2d 800 (D.C. 2007), the court noted that "[w]e have previously recognized a cause of action for equitable indemnity whereby one of the several persons liable for the same harm, or an exacerbation of the harm, discharges their liability, and then seeks to be indemnified by the non-settling parties. Washington Hosp. Ctr., supra, 722 A.2d at 332; see also RESTATEMENT (THIRD) OF TORTS § 22 (2003)".

In general, "[i]ndemnity is a common law remedy that arises from an express or implied contract giving the right of complete reimbursement to one party who has been compelled by law to pay what the other party should pay ... [a]n obligation to indemnify exists where the equities of the case and the relationship of the parties support shifting responsibility from one party to another." Howard Univ. v. Good Food Servs., Inc., 608 A.2d 116, 122 (D.C. 1992) (internal citation omitted); accord Nat'l Health Labs., Inc. v. Ahmadi, 596 A.2d 555, 557-58 (D.C.1991). "Unlike contractual indemnity, equitable indemnity is based upon principles of equity and 'implied out of a relationship between the parties to prevent a result which is unjust" Caglioti, supra, citing Howard Univ., supra, 608 A.2d at 123.

The DCCA's prior analysis indicates that there needs to be a contract (implied or express) between the alleged tortfeasor (Lumbih), who has been compelled by law to pay, and the party that should pay and/or be found liable (Wilson). There is no contract between Ntaky and Lumbih which either party breached. Lumbih may have the right to receive reimbursement from Wilson for any demonstrated damages due to Ntaky enforcing its declaratory judgment, but this would be an issue of responsibility for damages incurred by Lumbih shifting to Wilson since the Lumbih's deed created a contractual relationship between only them.

It is significant that Ntaky was awarded no damages against Lumbih at trial. The only "liability" Lumbih has is to limit her improvements and property interests within the confines of the Lot 825 that she owns. The thrust of the trial court's holding as between Ntaky and Lumbih is that Lumbih cannot use or occupy property which she does not own, and that Ntaky can use and occupy property that it does own.

In short, there is no basis for an application of equitable indemnification principles shifting burdens or liabilities to Ntaky here, and there were no facts in support of a conclusion that there was an abuse of discretion by the trial court by not reconfiguring Lot 826 in Square 3024 to Ntaky's detriment. There is no basis to overturn or reverse the legal conclusion reached by the trial court that Ntaky is the fee simple owner of lot 826 in square 3024 in its entirety, and there is no basis to impose liability against Ntaky in favor of Lumbih for damages associated with her claims against Wilson. If there is a belief that there was an error somewhere in conveying property interests, the party responsible for those errors should bear the consequences. Ntaky is not the responsible party. Imprecision or lack of attention to detail by Lumbih and/or Wilson or their contractors could be. Burdening and punishing Ntaky is not appropriate and only widens the sphere of possible damages, prejudice, and harm. Ntaky's land

and contract rights are entitled to the protection of the court and the judgment entered in the case below.

D. The Trial court correctly concluded that Lumbih sufficiently undertook an effort to examine the District of Columbia Land Records to retain responsibility for the risk of a partially inaccurate description of Lot 825 in Square 3024 contained in her deed of conveyance.

The Trial court found that Lumbih's breach of contract claim against Wilson depended upon whether the September 24, 2010 deed imposed on Ms. Wilson an obligation or duty to confirm that the lot dimensions were correct. JA 000013. In evaluating this issue, citing Maryland law, the court observed that "if . . . the means of knowledge are at hand, and the purchaser undertakes to make an examination of the land records, he cannot say that he was deceived and injured by misrepresentations of the vendor. . . . Thus, the crucial question is whether [the plaintiff]—by himself or through his agent—undertook an examination of the land records. (Id. at 1050 (emphasis original))." JA 000014. The court went on to note that Lumbih "obtained a survey of Lot 825 from Vyfhuis which, although it specified that it was "not a property line survey," was nonetheless incorporated into the deed by Dolphin." JA 000014. There was evidence received that Lumbih was represented at all times by a real estate agent in her purchase (10/3/2022 Transcript at p. 215, lines 11-17.; 10/03/2022 Transcript at p. 216, lines 20-22, JA 000038), and that the choice of a settlement agent belongs to the buyer, whether knowingly exercised or not.³ In addition, there was evidence admitted at trial showing

_

³ Lumbih offers a self-serving and unsubstantiated conclusion at JA000038 that "Ms. Wilson's testimony about this was not credible because she suggested that Ms. Evan's was Ms. Lumbih's choice, but Mr. Nelson and Ms. Lumbih both testified that Mr. Wilson brought them to Ms. Evans." The possibility that an agent or a party might have made a referral or suggestion for a settlement agent does not override the right of a buyer to choose. Lumbih had an agent representing her, and that agent could have advised to go somewhere else or suggest one on her own.

22. Dolphin and Evans was selected by Lumbih as the settlement agent and handled the closing on the sale of Lot 825 to Lumbih on behalf of Lumbih. 10/04/2022 Transcript at p. 97, lines 8-14; Transcript at p. 114, lines 17-

that Lumbih, as any buyer of real property using a consumer loan must do, obtained a title report, a title abstract, a title binder, and title insurance covering both herself and her lender against defects in title to Lot 825 in Square 3024. See Ntaky Trial Exhibit 10 (Lumbih's HUD-1 Settlement Statement for her purchase) at lines 1101, 1103, 1104, 1110, and 1111. This paired with the constructive and imputed knowledge of the prior recording of Ntaky's deed a year earlier and the records of the Office of the Surveyor for the District of Columbia provides more than ample and substantial basis for the trial court's finding that Lumbih undertook to examine relevant land records and did not just blindly rely on any representation of Wilson.

VII. CONCLUSION

The reasons for affirming the decision of the Trial Court below as to the rights and interests of Ntaky are made clear by reviewing:

- a) Ntaky Exhibits 1,2,3,4,6, and 7 (Supp. to Joint App. 234-251);
- b) the March 10, 2023 Final Order and judgment below;
- c) Judge Jose Lopez's July 19, 2021 grant of partial summary judgment in favor of Ntaky. See Supp. to Joint Appendix at p. 254.
 - d) the portions of the record referenced in Ntaky's brief above.

In the Court's review of the proceedings below, as stated in *Rosenberg*, Judicial Discretion, supra at 650, the "area of trial court discretion is a pasture in which the trial judge can roam and graze freely rendering rulings his appellate betters might not have made, unless and until the higher court fences off a corner of the pasture by announcing that a rule of law

^{19;.10/03/2022} Transcript at p. 210, lines 22-25. In any event, Ntaky was not responsible for any error at settlement, and it already owned lot 826 in any event.

covers the situation and has been violated. Until that occurs, the trial judge, wielding discretionary power, need not be right by appellate court lights in order to be upheld. Even if the appellate judges disagree with his call, they will defer to him."

Lumbih cannot avoid the impact of the records of the Office of the Surveyor for the District of Columbia, the Office of the Recorder of Deeds for the District of Columbia, and the actions of agents serving her in the purchase of real property interests acting on her behalf by ignoring records and documents which would have clearly identified and telegraphed the problem she now complains of. She proceeded at her own risk.

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